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Meredith House

LaGrange
Cambridge, Maryland PLC 114/366

This large Georgian house was built in the 1760's by John
Woolford on part of two tracts of land originally known as Ricarton
and Woolford's Regulation. In the nineteenth century this property
was one of several large farms east of the city ofCambridge and
fronting on the Choptank River. Rose Hill stood on the west of this
property, while Shoal Creek bordered on the east. The house remained
in the Woolford family until 1846, when the property was sold to
Elizabeth R. Muse. She so0ld the farm in 1860. Since that date the

land has changed hands several times. In 1956, the Dorchester County

Historical Society purchased thehouse and now uses it as its headquarters

and museum. The building retains much of its original eighteenth
century appearance, although a wing has been added to the house on the
southeast side. This is one of the few eighteenth century houses
still remaining in the city of Cambridge.

Sources:

Dorchester County Courthouse, Cambridge, Marvland.

.Land Records.

Research by:

Terrance P. Walbert

1976.
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~ DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND CRIGINAL (IF KNOWN} PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The veredith Fouse or LaGrange is located at 904 LaGrange Avenue, approximately 125 \
<outh of the bank of the Choptank River, Czmbricdge, rchester County, Maryland. BPuilt
¢
n

- Mg

o

@
circa 1760 the house is one of the few rezaining Gecrgian houses in Cambridge. Threc
-ide znd two cdeep it measures 2% stories in height. Additions, notably sunporches an
frzme wing, were azdced cGuring the late nineteenth century.

The walls of the main block are lzid in Flemish bpond. The house sits on a2 water teble,
- the first course of which is accentuzted by brick laid in a2ll header bend. A thin belt
course, two bricks thick, separates the first znd second floors on the front (south) and
rear (north) facades. A simple carved bracket cornice with returns crowns both these fac
The bracket cornice, extending past the plene of the side facade, also extends on the scid
of the building along the roof line. A thin belt course is also located on the east znd
west facades, stretching over each lintel from one cornice return to the otner.

' -“h-&au

Upper and lower windows are aligned within the walls. Although there are now 6-over-6,
double-nung szsh windows in each window on the front znd rear facades, the interruprted
brickwork and thickness of surrouncds znd mullion and muntins suggest these are replacesen
of the twentieth century. Similar changes have occurred to the second storey &nd attic
windows on both sides of the house. The pecimented lintels which eppear on the first
floor, iront facade window and doors, and on all windows on the east and west facaces,
appear a2lso to be twentieth century zdditions. These may have been used to cover holes
punched into the brickwork when two large porches were added to the front anéd rear Iacade
during the late nineteenth century. *

Entrances to the wmain block are loczted in the secend bay on both front and rear faczdes
Original doors a&nd surrounds for both entrances have been removed. On the iront, the
four—-panel door is flanked by sidelignts and covered with a three-pane transom. Each
sidelight consists of a 2-over-2 double hung sash window over a single pzneled bese.
Pzneled reveals encircle the doorway, wnich is set back from the plane of the sidelights
A Dodern store door has been placed over the transom and door. Two modern brick steps,
tlaznked by cast-iron handrails, lead to the doorway. On the rear facade, the interrupte
brickwork indicates that sidelights like those seen on the iront were rezoved. The
entrance door 1is now a multi-lighted twentieth century door, capped by a three-light trez
csom. It too has a modern storm door, &nd is reached by two modern brick steps without
nencrail.

The gable roof is covered with dark asbestos shingles. Three massive brick chimneys wit
corbeled caps are placed at the northeast, nmorthwest and southeast corners of the
structure. All chimnevs have compon bond brickwork. Their overall crispness, brick tex:
en¢ uniiormity, tooling of joint znd shape suggest they are azlterations carried out dur:
tne lezte nineteenth century. Two pedimented dormers, aligned roughly over the first anc
third bays, are located on both the north and souvth faczdes. Each 6-over-6, double-nun
sash window is flaznked by simple Doric pilasters and capped by a cornice and returns.
The cides of each dormer are shezthed in modern clapboard. |

See Continuation Sheet 1.
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The “zs=ment of the house has been greatly altered. Access is geined by a winding
stair (twentieth century) and by steps located in the northeast corner leading to a

oodern bulkhead on the surface. Joists eppear to be reprlazcexzents, based on evicence
of circular saw cuts and machine-mzde nails.

In plzn, the building exhibits an a2ltered coniiguration which has changed more then cnce
. from whaf was most probably the originzl Georgion central hzll, cdouble pile configuration.
‘ The present plan consists of four rooms (see floor plan) from the front door, one
: enters a hall. Doors and windows are set off with late nineteenth century architrave
moléings and bulls-eye corner blocks. Fere, as in every other room in the main block,
modern wood floors have replaced the olcer, random width pine flooring. 1In the scuthzast
corner of the room, a stairway rises on two lendings and the second floor. The open-
string steilr ex DWbltS simple brackets, tapering balusters, rounded handrail &nd bulbous
bezutifully turned newel pest on sguare bzse. A door in the southeast corner of the
room leads to a bathroom in the twentieth century addition. A door under the staircese
=~ 1leads down a winding stair to the basement below. Two entrances on the north wall lead
into the rear parlors. A door on the west leads into 2 smeller parlor room on the {rent.
This front parlor also conteins moldings identical to these found in the hallway. A
late nineteenth century mantel has bzen built into the southwest corner of the room.

What was originally a window on the west wall has been filled in with shelves &nd now
serves a2s a booxcase.

A smazller parlor, now used as a dining room is located directly behind the entrance hzall.
Its plaster walls ere pazinted grev. A cimple baseboard, pzinted white, continues

around the rooz and into the second parlor. Windows heve pareled revezls and finely
detailed architrave trim with corner btlocks. A Victorian marble fireplace and mantel
shelf are located in the northeast corner of the room, embellished only by a floral
bouguet decoration centrally placed below the shelf.

i

A pearelec surround, 21so with icenticzal icings and corner tlocks used in the above
parlor, leads into a second and larger parlor, now used a2s a living room. Molcings

are identical to those in the first parlor. A fireplace, similar in design to the
other, but with a flat polvgonal cdeccration below the shelf, is located in the northwest
corner.

JLO
aT

On the second iloor, the floor plan ccnsists of a long hall that runs lengthwise zcrcss
the iront of the building. The first room, located in the northeast corner, shows
extensive alterations, such a2s twentieth century doors, buvilt-in shelves, etc. The
cecond room, located to the northwest, contains simpler late nineteenth century molicings

e e w

enc enother Victorian mantel placed at 2 459 zngle in the far cormer of the bLliElng. A

cmall modern closet has been a2dded in the southwest corner of this room anéd hall. A

colrvway on the west wall of the hell lezds into an early twentieth century bainhrooxm.

See Continuation Sheet 2.




Fporm P YU A0,
Bl ol 1L ?41 —_——-

UNITEDSTATLES DEPARTANMENT OF THE INTERIOR FOR NPS USE ONLY
NATIONAL PARK SERVICE

RECEIVED AL 9 =

cn)

)

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
INVENTORY -- NOMINATION FORM

DATE ENTERED I

Meredith Eouse (LaGrange)
Dorchester County

CONTINUATICN SHEET Marvland ITENM NUNMBER 7 PAGE 9

From the second floor, the stzirway 1leads to a landing and up a winding stair to
the attic. Here, rooms are all early twentieth century, used only for storage.

Circa 1897, a twc-storey, gable-roofed, frzme addition was built on the east sice of the
house. It houses a kitchen remodeled in the 1900's on the first floor and bedrooms zbove
It is clad with clapboard and haes & central brick chimney.

On the northeast, the addition is three-bays wide and contains two levels of 6-over-6
Jouble-hung sash windows which are modern replacements. On the southeast facade, the
fenestration is similar, with the addition of a small four-pane ezsement window which
lights a bathroom. On its eazst facade, a modern kitchen window is placed to the left
of a modern door, reached by three-brick steps. A small window is centrally placed

in the second storey.

q.‘ﬂ‘-'.

Early in the twentieth century, a sunporch and other porches were added to the north,
west and south facades of the main block. Between 1897 and 1958, the two major porches
— were remxmoved. The frazme sunporch was retained and now serves as part of the
exhibition space in the museum. The porch is placed on a cinderblock foundation and
topped by a shed roof. Its north and south facades are pierced by three, 2-over-2
double-hung sash windows. Its western facade has six windows identical to the above,
interspersed by carved verticle panels. Doric 3/4 columns mark the northwest &nd
southwest corners.

In 1958, a major renovation of the house took place, resulting in the creation of the
caretaker's quarters in the frame wing, sandblasting of the brick main block, and
refurbishing the interior rooms, including the addition of nmew wooden floors.

Three outbuildings are located close to the main house. Ten feet from the northeast
corner of the wmwain block is a late nineteenth century dairy, with projecting hip roof,
now used as & storage area. An eighteenth century smokehouse, moved from another prcperty
in Cembridge, is located thirty feet from the northeast corner of the house. It is rnotec
for its 2" thick oak boards placed horizontally and connected by dovetail joints and
pegging and two verticle board doors. 1t is capped by a shingled hip roof with wooden
weathervane. Approximately /5 feet from the southeast cormer of the house, a converted
twentieth century garage now serves as the farm museum. This building includes ferming

implements, and 1835 McCormick rezper and a blacksmiths shop.
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SIGNIFICANCE
La Grange, now known as the Meredith Bouse, is important as one of only a few hcucses

of the Georgian period remaining in Czmbridge. In a 1976 survey of the town iour other
houses incorporeting 18th century fabric were identified and remain today. The exterior
of this house is, by far, the least altered. Significant remaining exterior Georgian
characteristics include its Flemish bond brickwork with watertable; and five bay facade,
the most outstanding Ieature of which is the extremely tall corner chirmney stacks, a
design feature iound only rarely on the lower Eastern Shore of Maryland. More icportantly
though, this 18th century hovse is significant as an example of ahouse that has changed
throvgh time, with century architectural sdditions, in and of themselves pleasing and
representative of thelzte Victorian period. An 13th century structure on the property
is 2lso 1n excellent cendition &end is & rare survival of an importent ancillary building

type irom that period.

LaGrenge has also served as the home oi a number oI prominent Cembridge families
and its history 1s iInterturned with the development of Czmbridge and Dorchester County
from the 18th through the 20th centuries. It 1is perheps fitting that the house now,
functions as the county's historical society, serving two purposes--its exterior
exhibiting the Gecrgian architecture Icrm now rere ir Cambridge, while its 12th
century interior serves as a splendid backdrop for the interpretation of remeining
pieces of this city and county's important heritage.

HISTORY

The land on which La Grange was constructed dates back to the 17th century. In
1699 the provincial government of Maryland granted land along the Choptank River,
three miles wide, extending Irom the present Cambridge city area to the Warwick River in
Secretary, to the Choptank Indians to insure peace and goodwill. In 1686, John Xirke,
whose plentation "Ricarton' served 2s a tobacco trading center until later establishment of
the port of Cambridge by Lord Bzsltimore in 1684, bought an original tract of this land on
Snoal Creek, on which Meredith HBouse stands today, from one of the Indian chiefs Ababco
for forty two matchcoats (a matchcoat is an outer garment wade from a coarse, woolen
cloth). Xirke beczme prominent in the area, in his sence a2s commnissioner for Lord
Bzltimore, collecting rents for his emplover. 1In 1684, the provisionzl government pur
one huncred &scres and laid out lots on Kigh Street, which lzter beccme the center of t
Kirke's political influence &nd weather grew as reflected in the construction of Cambr
first houvse, "The Point", in 1702. Yhen he dies in 1733 the 435-acre tract of land

bovght irom the Indians, passed to his cdzuvghter, Ann.
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SIGNIFICANCE, continued

John Woolford purchased part of this tract, renazmed "Phillips Discovery, irom
tnn znd her husband, Jzmes Phillips, in 1745 for 340 pounds. Beiween 1760 and
1773, land 2nd probate records indicate that John Woolford improved the 3/8 acre
tract with the construction of a dwelling house of brick , later to be patented
"Woolford's Regulation'.

Woolford's importance to Cambridge's development is reflected in his holdings at
the time of his death in 1773. His numerous land holdings snd pcssessions were
sufficient to leave each of his seven children sizeeble tracts of land, cash and
slaves. Although there is no known inventory of his estate, protably due to the
Revolutionary War in progress, which disrupted record keeping, Woolford's will gives
some insight into his wealth. It was his son William who inberited the home plantation,
but the will stipulated his only cdaughter, Mary, could "occupy the little room 1in
my dwelling house below the stairs and the little room zbove the stzirs, also the use
of that field at the head of the Creek...zlso the privilege of pasture ior two or
three horses and cows"” until she married. Mary was a2lso left a silver cream pot,
mug and several spoons. All the children were left slaves znd money in the form of
Spanish dollars. In subsequent inventories of Woolford's children, land, slaves,
money and livestock figured significantly, indicating his family msintained prosperity
and prestige in the community. Elizazbeth Muse beought the property in 1846 from the
Woolford family and called it LaGrange, meaning "the home of the gentleman farmer' &nd
pcssibly after the Marquis de Lafayette's home in France. Ber husband, Dr. Willizm
H. Muse, from azn eminent Maryland family, practiced medicene in Dorchester County
most of his adult life. He was a descencant of the noted Ennals clan, who boasted
such notable kinsmen as Sophia Kerr and 2 United States senator, the honcrable .Jonn
Leeds Kerr. Besides being land developers, the Muse family were leaders in agricultura.
rethods and scientific farming technigues. Dr. Joseph Ennalls Muse (1776-1852) was
one of the founders of the Dorchester County Agricultural Society (1824). The i&=mily
performed numerous experiments with new crop growth. Although wheat and corn héad
replaced tobacco as a cash crop, its continual use had seriously demeaged the cualiiy ©
the soil. With their work in fertilizer use &nd crop change, the Muser femily reversecd
the disastrous decline of Yaryland farming prior to the Civil War.

r-'.dn..

Y

A later owner was A. Bamilton Bavly, grandson of Josiah Bavly, attorney ior the
notorious slave kidnapper Patty Cannon, znd the first Attorney General oi XMarvliena.
At this point in the nineteenth century, LaCGrznge w2s one of several preminent Weiler
iront farms in Cambridge. Appleby, the home of Thomas Holliday ¥icks, Civil Var
governor rirom Dorchester County, was probably themost majestic of these homes, while

two other fzrms, Shoal Creek and Rose Bill, bordered LaGrange in the eastern sector of
the city.

SEE CONTINUATION SFEEET #4.
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SICNIFICANCE, continued

“Yow comprised of some forty acres, LaGrange changed owners four more times
before John Foward First purchzsed it in 1897. Ten vears earlier, Hearst and his
family bouth the adjoining property of William Wilson Bvrn's "Rese Hill." Birst &nd
his father were New Yorkers and regarcded as pioneers in truck fazrming with
their property Jzmaica Point on Long Island. Here on the south shore of the Cheptank
River they found undeveloped land ideal for their method of farming. Byrn had broken
the way with the introduction of Southdown sheep and Aldernay cattle, and improved
harvests of corn. 1In 1897, with the planting of fruit orchards, the expansion of
and the construction of packing houses, LaGrenge was purchased by Eirst, adding 41 s

o . —
to t{he_rl;ls: ‘Ee ‘?:L..i—_ejg{;:a; :‘:?—ji- h L ey 5 ff:’,!i _:-31 ‘Fﬁ\;_ ;:f(C ;;-i \"“%".Jl} '::%”f \ 7= z E‘!‘. v O T
. ‘» ., Active in community, business and governmental atfairs, Smith served as Register
of Wills in Dorchester County for forty-eight vears. Ee resigned when Franklin D.
Rocsevelt appointed him Collector of Customs for the Port of Baltimore. Sometimne
— during his thirty vears of residence at lLaGrange, Smith added a sunporch to the
northwest part of the house and removed two exterior porches.

field
cre
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In 1958 the Dorchester County Fistorical Society purchzsed LaGrange, which had
shrunk in size to one acre of land. 1IT was renamed in 1960 Meredith House in memory
of Thomas H. and Joseph B. Meredith when the latter's grandson, Thomas S. Nichols,
aided the society in purchasing the house and an additional half acre of property.
Several vears later & major renovation was undertaken, resulting in the creation
of the caretaker's quarters in the frame wing, sandblasting the brick section,
removing earlier sdded white peint and refurbishing of the interior rooms.

Meredith Fouse is used today by the society for meetings aznd is open to the public
on 2 limited basis. The first floor rooms are furnished much as they would be in the
middle nineteenth century, withlocal collections of antigues, china, clothing &nd
pictures adding & touch of Dorchester history. Scrapbooks, files on local family
historiles and cocuments on Marviand and Dorchester history comprise the sunporch
1ibrary, although much of this material has been moved to the local library for
the convenience of the public. The first bedroom upstairs contains maritime artifacts,
including ships' models, tools of a ship's carpenter and apparatus used by watermen.
Pictures and some perscnal possessions of the seven Dorchester County men who served
as Mzrvland governors are housed in a second bedroom, known as the "Governor's Room."

Outside, 2 smokehouse contains a small collection of household items. It was
built in the eighteenth century and moved from another Czmbridge city property. A Iarm
museum, once a garage probably built by Smith, contains farming implements, including

- an 1835 McCormick reaper. Another small structure on the property was probably used
2as @ cairy house 1n earlier times. )
1Will of John Wooliord, 1773. 39/359, Dorchester County. Probate records
in Annapolis HBeall of Records.

- e —— —




) A O
"7 7ATAJOR 3 BLIOGRAITHCALRETERENCES D=9

[ . e - ﬁ
Primary Sources: 1) Zall ot heécords, Arnzpolis, Meryland; Dorchester County Prebhzte
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Publishe}s, 1966.
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See Continuation 5.
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VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION Ag recorded in Dor. County Courthouse: Liber 114/Folio 366.
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CONDITION | Excellent mﬁGood Fair Deteriorated Ruins | -Unexposed -
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| K1 Altered Uncltered Moved _TE] Original Site
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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT 24D ORIGINAL (if known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

La Grange or tne lMeredith House, as it 1s known
today is a typically symmetrical Georgian house of
brick laid in Flemisi: Bond, A~dded to the original
nart of the house are a one storv frame addition on
the west side and a two story, three bay frame
addition on the east side., There are two gabled
dormers with six over six sash windows on the front
and rear of the gabled roof, %he cornice is orna-
mentea. by a series of carved brackets. 2&An unusual
feature of this house are the four ciiimneys, one at
each corner of tine oldest portion. There are tnree
bays on the front of the house, and the shutterless
windows are six over six sash, Between the first and

second stories is a beltcourse of raised brick.

s xround the bottom of the house is a molded water |

table of raised brick,

Cn the grounds 1s a Farm !luseun containing manv
objects used in farming 1n tne earllier days of this
country, 1lncluding an 1835 reaper, one of the first
built by kcCcrmick. & smokehouse moved here dates
to the 1700's and 1is built of twvo inch oak boards
put togethner at the corners witn pegs and dovetailing,
Exhibited in the smokehouse are old household items

and utensils,

The house itself contains many antigues and items

of historical interest, On tiie second floor is a
Governor's Room, honoring the six kFarvland Governors
elected from Dorchester: John Henry, Charles Golds-
borough, Thomas Holliday Hicks, Henry Lloyd, Phillins
Lee Goldsborough and Emerson C,., Harrington and a

| seventh, Thomas King Carroll, who moved to Dorchester
after his term of office,
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Pre-Columbian 16th Century X] 18th Century 20th Century )
15th Century 17th Century 19th Century
SPECIFIC DATEI(S) (If Applicable and Known) AI Ound I 76(_)_—17__70 J__ ) — ______________1-___“
AREAS OF sleFl::ANCE (Check One or More as Appropriate)
Abor iginal Education Political Urban Planning
Prehistoric Engineering Religion/Phi. Other (Specity)
¢ Historic (] industry losophy
4 Agriculture 1 invention "] Science —
8 Architecture Landscape Sculpture - -—____
Art Architecture Social/Human- - e
Commerce Literature tarion
Communications Military Theater - -
Conservation Music Tronsportation
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

distorv:

John Kirk, an extensive land owner and Indian fighter,
was the first white owner of this land whicn he purchased
| from the Indians in 1684, The property was called Ricarton
| at that time. In 1697, John Kirk gave his brother william
120 acres of this land, Next it came into the possession
of James and Ann Phillips. (Ann was the eldest surviving _
daughter of John Kirk.) On March 4, 1760, James Phillips
and Ann sold to John ioolford all that part of a tract of
land on the Great Choptank River formerly called Ricarton,
but now called Phillip's Recovery. The Woolfords were a
| prominent family in the county, taking an active part 1in
the social, political and military affairs., The proverty
I was next owned by John VWoolford's son, John, and was
known as Woolford's Regulation. dJohn Woolfeord sold the
property to bBlizabeth R, Muse, the wife of Dr. William II,
| Muse, The Muse family were descendants of the Ennalls
' clan, Dr. Muse sold the propert,, now called La Grange
to John L. Wrightson in 1864 and in 1871 Wrightson sold
the property to Mr. A, Zamilton Bavlv. (Mr, Bayly was
a grandson of the Hon. Josiah Bayly.) The pronerty
changed hands several times after that., The building of
brick was built between 1760 znd 1770, presumably by the
Woolfords,

Significance:

This house 1s significan &8 one of the few surviving
houses 1in Cambridge that date to tiie Revolutionary ¥War
Period. It is a good exanmple of Georgian architecture

and has been relatively unaltered except for the frame
additions,
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F. arthur Lascowski, Papers

A Day in Dorchester, 1971, Dorchester County

Historical Society
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